IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,	
v.) S.CT. NO. 17–1806
JON ARTHUR DIECKMANN,))
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY THE HONORABLE MARLITA A. GREVE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY Assistant Appellate Defender mconroy@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WAS TRIAL COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE?

Authorities

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 555 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)

Ledezma v. State, 626, N.W.2d 134, 142 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Lyman, 776 N.W.2d 865, 878 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Lane, 743 N.W.2d 178, 181 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 379–80 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203, 210 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Schoelerman, 315 N.W.2d 67, 72 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Greene, 595 N.W.2d 24, 29 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)

Washington v. Scurr, 304 N.W.2d 231, 235 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Leckington, 713 N.W.2d 208, 218 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 500 (Iowa 1999)

Osborn v. State, 573 N.W.2d 917, 922 (Iowa 1998)

Bowman v. State, 710 N.W.2d 200, 203 (Iowa 2006)

Schertz v. State, 380 N.W.2d 404, 408 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Code § 814.7(2)-(3) (2017)

State v. Ceron, 573 N.W.2d 587, 590 (Iowa 1997)

1. Failure to properly challenge the sufficiency of the evidence.

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Carey, No. 02–1377, 2004 WL 356260, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 27, 2004) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Kluge, No. 02–0666, 2003 WL 21544492, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. July 10, 2003) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Keopasaeuth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 639-40 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72, 75 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Petithory, 702 N.W.2d 854, 856-57 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Limbrecht, 600 N.W.2d 316, 317 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Harrison, 325 N.W.770, 772-73 (Iowa Ct. App. 1982)

State v. Speicher, 625 N.W.2d 738, 741 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Code § 713.2 (2017)

State v. Copenhaver, 844 N.W.2d 442, 450 (Iowa 2014)

Iowa Code § 713.7 (2017)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435–36 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Schories, 827 N.W.2d 659, 664–65 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 174 (Iowa 2011)

2. Failure to object to the marshalling instruction for Attempted Burglary in the Second Degree.

State v. Marin, 788 N.W.2d 833, 837 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.924

Alcala v. Marriott Intern., Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Monk, 514 N.W.2d 448, 451 (Iowa 1994)

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316 (1979)

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)

State v. Frei, 831 N.W.2d 70, 76 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Tyler, 873 N.W.2d 741, 753-54 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Schlitter, 881 N.W.2d 380, 391 (Iowa 2016)

Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46 (1991)

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

State v. Jones, 29 P.3d 351, 371 (Haw. 2001)

State v. Ice, 997 P.2d 737, 741 (Kan. 2000)

Commonwealth v. Plunkett, 664 N.E.2d 833, 837 (Mass. 1996)

State v. Ortega-Martinez, 881 P.2d 231 (Wash. 1994)

State v. Owens, 323 P.3d 1030 (Wash. 2014)

3. Failure to object to improper and inadmissible evidence.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403 (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801 (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802 (2017)

State v. Edgerly, 571 N.W.2d 25, 29 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)

State v. Reynolds, 765 N.W.2d 283, 290 (Iowa 2009)

Alcala v. Marriott Intern., Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116, 124 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Elliott, 806 N.W.2d 660, 668 (Iowa 2011)

People v. Sanders, 75 Cal. App. 3d 501, 507–08 (Cal. Ct. App. 1977)

Bowman v. State, 710 N.W.2d 200, 204 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Myers, 382 N.W.2d 91, 97 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Davis, No. 13–1099, 2014 WL 5243343, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2014) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 537-38 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 500 (Iowa 1999)

Osborn v. State, 573 N.W.2d 917, 922 (Iowa 1998)

4. Failure to move for mistrial after the jury heard improper evidence.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403 (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.404 (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801 (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802 (2017)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435–36 (Iowa 1983)

Washington v. Scurr, 304 N.W.2d 231, 235 (Iowa 1981)

Simmons v. State Public Defender, 791 N.W.2d 69, 75 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Trudo, 253 N.W.2d 101, 106 (Iowa 1977)

State v. Piper, 663 N.W.2d 894, 902 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 551 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Carey, 165 N.W.2d 27, 29 (Iowa 1969)

State v. Wade, 467 N.W.2d 283, 285 (Iowa 1991)

State v. Brown, 397 N.W.2d 689, 699 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472, 498 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Sullivan, 679 N.W.2d 19, 24 (Iowa 2004)

Schertz v. State, 380 N.W.2d 404, 408 (Iowa 1985)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)

5. Cumulative Error.

Wycoff v. State, 382 N.W.2d 462, 473 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 500-02 (Iowa 2012)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 669 (1984)

II. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ORDERING APPELLATE ATTORNEY FEES TO BE ASSESSED IN THEIR ENTIRETY UNLESS THE DEFENDANT FILED A REQUEST FOR HEARING ON THE ISSUE OF HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY?

Authorities

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017)

Iowa Code § 815.14 (2017)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124, 148-49 (Iowa 2018)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Court should transfer this case to the Court of Appeals because it raises issues that involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) & 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Defendant-Appellant Jon Arthur Dieckmann appeals his convictions, sentences, and judgment following a jury trial and verdict finding him guilty of Attempted Burglary in the Second Degree and Possession of Burglar's Tools, in Scott County District Court Case No. FECR384873.

Course of Proceedings: On June 14, 2017, the State charged Dieckmann with Count I: Burglary in the Second Degree, a class "C" felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 713.5; and Count II: Possession of Burglar's Tools, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 713.7. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4–6); see Iowa Code §§ 713.5, 713.7 (2017). The district court arraigned Dieckmann

in open court, and Dieckmann entered a plea of not guilty on June 15, 2017. (Arraignment Tr. p.2 L.4–p.6 L.3) (Order for Pretrial Conference) (App. pp. 9–11).

A jury trial commenced on August 21, 2017. (Trial Tr. p.1 L.4–12). On August 23, 2017, the jury returned a verdict finding Dieckmann guilty of Attempted Burglary in the Second Degree, a lesser-included of Count I, and Count II: Possession of Burglar's Tools. (Trial Tr. p.182 L.7–23) (Order PreSentence Investigation) (App. pp. 20–22). The district court ordered a presentence investigation report. (Order PreSentence Investigation) (App. pp. 20–22).

The presentence investigation report was filed on October 3, 2017. (PSI) (Confidential App. pp. 4–18). Sentencing was held on October 12, 2017. (Sentencing Tr. p.2 L.1–p.7) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23–25). The district court ordered Dieckmann to indeterminate term not to exceed five years in prison on Count I and two years on Count II. (Sentencing Tr. p.15 L.21–p.16 L.10) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23–25). The district court ordered the sentences to run

concurrently to one another. (Sentencing Tr. p.15 L.17–20, p.16 L.12) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23–25). It also assessed the minimum fines of \$750 and \$625, but then suspended them. (Sentencing Tr. p.16 L.2–3, L.10–12) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23–25). The court also ordered Dieckmann to pay court costs and surcharges, but it found Dieckmann did not have the ability to repay his attorney fees. (Sentencing Tr. p.16 L.14–15, p.17 L.11–p.18 L.2) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23–25). Lastly, the court also ordered Dieckmann to submit a DNA sample. (Sentencing Tr. p.16 L.15–17) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23–25).

Dieckmann timely filed a notice of appeal on November 2, 2017. (Notice) (App. pp. 26–27).

Facts: On the morning of May 15, 2017, Brenda Milam did not feel well so she decided to watch some television, try to take a nap on her couch, and go into work later than normal; she was home alone. (Trial Tr. p.20 L.15–p.21 L.4, p.30 L.12–19, p.32 L.7–8). Milam lived at 2421 Grand Avenue in Davenport. (Trial Tr. p.22 L.5–10). The house had a privacy

fence around the backyard. (Trial Tr. p.22 L.16–24, p.24 L.4–15). A sidewalk ran from the front of the house alongside the northern side of the house to a side door; the north side door was accessible without going through the fence. (Trial Tr. p.25 L.6–16) (Ex. 4) (App. p. 13). On the southern side of the house, the privacy fence started at the house's chimney stack, thereby enclosing part of the southern side yard along with the backyard. (Trial Tr. p.24 L.4–15, p.26 L.9–11) (Ex. 6, 7) (App. pp. 14–15).

While lying on the couch, Milam heard a knock on the front door, which was only a few feet away; she did not want to answer the door so she remained on the couch. (Trial Tr. p.30 L.14–24, p.32 L.9–12). The television was on, but not loud, the curtains were closed, and there were no cars in the driveway. (Trial Tr. p.33 L.1–14). Milam's dog barked at the sound of the knock and jumped to look out the front window, which was not unusual. (Trial Tr. p.28 L.1–11, p.30 L.19–p.31 L.1). However, the dog continued barking, walked down the hallway, and through the house on the south side to the den

where it barked and growled in a way that Milam had never heard before. (Trial Tr. p.30 L.25–p.31 L.18). Because of her dog's reaction, Milam got up from the couch and walked towards her den at the back of the house, which was attached to a three-season room. (Trial Tr. p.34 L.5–18).

As Milam went to the den, she noticed a man, later identified as Dieckmann, with his hands on the exterior door in the three-season room. (Trial Tr. p.34 L.10-18, p.35 L.25p.36 L.11) (Ex. 13) (App. p. 16). The door was locked with a hook and eye latch. (Trial Tr. p.34 L.19-21, p.44 L.8-10). Milam testified she did not process what Dieckmann was doing, but believed "his hands were pushing on [the] door with the other hand towards the latch"; she also described the door as not flush with the wall. (Trial Tr. p.34 L.17-p.35 L.2). She testified she did not notice anything in Dieckmann's hands. (Trial Tr. p.37 L.22-24). Milam stated she screamed, "What the fuck are you doing?" at Dieckmann. (Trial Tr. p.35 L.2-5, p.39 L.13-14). Milam testified Dieckmann stated "Sorry,

ma'am," and he put his hands down and walked away. (Trial Tr. p.35 L.2–5, p.39 L.13–18).

Milam got her phone and called 911. (Trial Tr. p.35 L.5–6) (Ex. 1). Milam looked out the window and saw Dieckmann reaching over the fence, relocking the gate door, and walking to the front sidewalk, where he had left his bicycle. (Trial Tr. p.35 L.5–10). Milam testified that after their interaction, Dieckmann "looked very relaxed" and "like he belonged there." (Trial Tr. p.45 L.10–12, p.60 L.6–9). Milam testified she opened the door to describe what Dieckmann was doing to the 911 operator "because [she] wanted him caught." (Trial Tr. p.46 L.4–7). She testified she felt like a victim and was shaken by the incident. (Trial Tr. p.46 L.8–23).

Milam testified her front door had a sign that said, "Doorbell broke. Please knock" because her doorbell had been broken for four years. (Trial Tr. p.38 L.4–7, p.49 L.4–12, p.56 L.21–24). Regarding the sign, an officer testified: "When I looked at the note, I could tell that it had writing on it, but, to me, it was so sun faded I had difficulty reading anything."

(Trial Tr. p.105 L.7–9). Milam testified her house was in good condition and was not in need of repairs. (Trial Tr. p.24 L.16–p.25 L.25) (Ex. 2) (App. p. 12). She acknowledged there were some trees on her property that needed to be trimmed, but stated her husband kept the lawn mowed. (Trial Tr. p.39 L.23–p.40 L.12).

Officers found Dieckmann in the neighborhood based on Milam's description within minutes of her 911 call. (Trial Tr. p.78 L.21-p.80 L.3) (Ex. 20 02:42-03:00). An officer testified that when he found Dieckmann, Dieckmann was pedaling on his bicycle but he was not being "overly evasive." (Trial Tr. p. 102 L. 16-22). The video from the officer's dash camera shows Dieckmann pedaling at a leisurely pace. (Ex. 20 02:42– 03:00). Almost immediately, the officer told Dieckmann they had a call he was trying to enter a house, and Dieckmann calmly denied that he was trying to break into the house. (Trial Tr. p. 105 L. 10-22) (Ex. 20 03:54-04:05). Dieckmann admitted he had been at Milam's house, and he told the officer there had been a note on the door telling him to go to the back door, which he did. (Trial Tr. p.81 L.14–16) (Ex. 20 04:00–04:15). Dieckmann told the officer he knocked and Milam had gone crazy on him. (Trial Tr. p.81 L.14–22) (Ex. 20 04:10–04:25). Dieckmann stated he apologized for disturbing her and left. (Trial Tr. p.81 L.21–22). When questioned why he was in the neighborhood, Dieckmann answered he had family friends that lived in the neighborhood, had been working around the neighborhood, and was looking for work as a handyman. (Trial Tr. p.80 L.23–13, p.103 L.22–p.104 L.1) (Ex. 20 04:20–05:129).

The responding officer testified Dieckmann was cooperative. (Trial Tr. p.101 L.18–20). Police officers testified that inside of Dieckmann's backpack were several items. (Trial Tr. p.68 L.15–13). The items included a long metal file, a hammer, and work gloves. (Trial Tr. p.69 L.1–3). When told the charges for which he was going to jail, Dieckmann stated, "That's bullshit" and told the officer the tools were for his work. (Ex. 24 11:00–11:20). Dieckmann expressed his frustration at being arrested, but then apologized to the officer

for his words, stating his surprise that this was happening to him. (Ex. 24 11:20–12:15).

There were no other homes in the neighborhood that reported burglaries. (Trial Tr. p.102 L.4–6).

Joseph Durham, a resident of Davenport, testified on behalf of Dieckmann. (Trial Tr. p.133 L.23-p.134 L.1). Durham testified he met Dieckmann around May of 2017 when Dieckmann knocked on his front door one morning and asked him if there was any work that Durham needed done. (Trial Tr. p.134 L.2-13). Durham stated he had not heard of Dieckmann's business until Dieckmann knocked on his door. (Trial Tr. p.134 L.23-25). Durham also testified that Dieckmann was riding a bicycle, which he had left on the side of the street when he approached the house. (Trial Tr. p. 134 L.18-20). Durham testified he hired Dieckmann to trim some hedges, and Dieckmann did a terrific job. (Trial Tr. p.134) L.21-p.135 L.3). Durham also stated he was planning on hiring Dieckmann again if he had an odd job, and Dieckmann would make contact with him just by knocking on his door. (Trial Tr. p.135 L.1–8).

Richard Jochim, another Davenport resident and Dieckmann's mother's boyfriend, also testified on behalf of the defense. (Trial Tr. p.136 L.19–24). Jochim testified the file was his and he used it to sharpen the blades of lawn mowers. (Trial Tr. p.137 L.3–9). Jochim also identified the hammer and work gloves as his; Jochim testified he loaned them to Dieckmann for use with his business. (Trial Tr. p.137 L.14–p.138 L.20). Jochim also testified Dieckmann would work on his lawn mower. (Trial Tr. p.137 L.24–25).

Lastly, Ricky Hess also testified on behalf of Dieckmann. (Trial Tr. p.140 L.18–20). Hess lived on 2618 Arlington Avenue, which was very close to where Milam lived. (Trial Tr. p.141 L.18–19, p.142 L.8–15) (Ex. 15) (App. p. 17). Hess was a family friend of Dieckmann's because Dieckmann's mother used to live by him. (Trial Tr. p. 141 L.13–15). Hess's daughter also lived in the neighborhood, across the street from Hess. (Trial Tr. p.141 L.20–22). Hess stated Dieckmann

worked on his lawn mowers and had mowed his lawn in the past. (Trial Tr. p.141 L.23-p.142 L.1).

Hess also testified he believed Dieckmann had been at his house working on his lawn mower the day before he was arrested. (Trial Tr. p.142 L.2-7). He further testified Dieckmann had trimmed the bushes at his daughter's house the day before he was arrested. (Trial Tr. p. 142 L. 16–23). Hess also believed Dieckmann would be returning to his house on the day he was arrested to continue working on his lawn mowers. (Trial Tr. p. 142 L.24-p. 143 L.4). Hess testified Dieckmann had been consistently working at his house for the two weeks leading up to his arrest, and that he intended to keep giving Dieckmann jobs as long as he wanted them. (Trial Tr. p.143 L.5-9). Hess also testified he saw Dieckmann knocking on his neighbor's doors, looking for work. (Trial Tr. p.143 L.19-p.144 L.5). Dieckmann had done some yardwork and odd jobs for people in the neighborhood. (Trial Tr. p.144 L.13–18).

Any additional relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

- I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE.
- A. <u>Preservation of Error</u>: The traditional rules of preservation of error do not apply to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>State v. Ondayog</u>, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006) (citation omitted).
- **B.** Standard of Review: The Court reviews claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which involve a constitutional right, de novo. State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012) (citing State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011)).
- C. Discussion: The U.S. Constitution and the Iowa

 Constitution both guarantee defendants of criminal cases the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amends.

 VI, XIV; Iowa Const. art. I, § 10; see also State v. Ambrose, 861

 N.W.2d 550, 555 (Iowa 2015). To prevail on an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, a defendant must establish (1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty and (2) the defense was prejudiced as a result. State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185,

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