IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1806

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

JON ARTHUR DIECKMANN, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY THE HONORABLE MARLITA A. GREVE, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

ZACHARY MILLER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) zachary.miller@ag.iowa.gov

MICHAEL WALTON Scott County Attorney

NATHAN L. REPP Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. All of Dieckmann's ineffective-assistance claims fail because he either cannot prove breach or prejudice.

Preservation of Error

Ineffective assistance is an exception to error preservation; if the record is adequate, the court may address it on appeal. *State v*. *Thorndike*, 860 N.W.2d 316, 319 (Iowa 2015) (citing Iowa Code \S 814.7(2)).

Standard of Review

Review is de novo. *Id.* (citing *State v. Clay*, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)).

"To prove ineffective assistance, the defendant must demonstrate by a preponderance of evidence that '(1) his trial counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) this failure resulted in prejudice." *State v. Ortiz*, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764 (Iowa 2010) (quoting *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 133(Iowa 2006)).

Merits

Dieckmann posits four ways his counsel performed ineffectively: (1) not challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, (2) not objecting to the attempted burglary instruction, (3) not objecting to certain evidence, and (4) not moving for mistrial after hearsay testimony. Def.'s Br. at 32, 43, 48, 54. All four claims fail. The State considers them in turn.

A. Sufficient evidence supported Dieckmann's convictions for attempted burglary and possessing burglar's tools.

Dieckmann says he received ineffective assistance from his counsel's "[f]ailure to properly challenge the sufficiency of the evidence." Def.'s Br. at 32 (bold removed). He attacks both his attempted burglary and possessing burglar's tools convictions. The State offered sufficient evidence of both.

1. The State offered sufficient evidence to prove Dieckmann committed attempted burglary: it showed he specifically intended to commit theft and intended to enter Milam's home.

To prove Dieckmann committed attempted second degree burglary the State had to show that he "attempted to break or enter ... an occupied structure" without "permission or authority" while he had "the specific intent to commit a theft, assault or other felony" and someone was "present in ... the occupied structure." Jury Instr. 25 (8/23/2017); App.18. Evidence is sufficient when, considering it "in the light most favorable to the State," it could "convince a rational jury that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Thomas*, 847 N.W.2d 438, 442 (Iowa 2014). Despite this lax standard, Dieckmann claims insufficient evidence proved he had the specific intent to commit a theft or the intent to enter Milam's at all. Def.'s Br. at 40. He is wrong.

Beginning with specific intent to commit a theft, the State offered ample evidence to show he had that intent. Four pieces of evidence stand out.

First, Milam saw Dieckmann trying to unlock her porch door.

Trial Tr., p.34, ln.10 to p.36, ln.10. Milam had not invited Dieckmann in. *See id.* at p.32, ln.17–21. In fact, she did not know him or why he

was there. *Id.* at p.48, ln.13–18. Yet he tried to come in anyway. *Id.* at p.34, ln.10 to p.36, ln.10. Dieckmann's attempt to enter Milam's home through a locked door without an invitation showed he intended to commit a theft inside.

Second, Dieckmann's actions show he concluded no one was home so he would break in. He knocked on the front door; no one answered. *Id.* at p.30, ln.14–24. Instead of leaving—as one would expect of a person soliciting work—Dieckmann went to the back door and tried to unlock it. *Id.* at p.34, ln.10 to p.36, ln.10. The jury could infer he concluded that no one was home so he would enter and commit theft. *State v. Reeves*, 209 N.W.2d 18, 21 (Iowa 1973) (noting jury can make reasonable inferences from evidence).

The jury could have buttressed its conclusion by rejecting Dieckmann's claim about the note on Milam's doorbell. Milam explained a note over her doorbell said "[d]oorbell broke. Please knock." Trial Tr., p.38, ln.6–7. Officer Lori Walker—who responded to Milam's 911 call—agreed. *Id.* at p.71, ln.20–21. Officer Waggoner could not read the note as it was sun faded. *Id.* at p.105, ln.3–9. Yet Dieckmann said he thought the note said to go around back and knock. Ex. 20 at 4:00 to 4:12. The jury was free to conclude that he

lied about the note to have an innocent explanation for why he went around back. *See Thomas*, 847 N.W.2d at 442 (noting jury can "reject certain evidence, and credit other evidence" (citation omitted)).

Third, his story about soliciting business for his handyman company strains credulity. Dieckmann approached Milam's house shirtless. Ex. 1 at 0:32. He had no business card for his company. *See* Trial Tr., p.52, ln.16–19. Despite claiming he approached Milam's home to ask after yard work, he had no lawn mower or yard tools. *Id.* at p.98, ln.22 to p.99, ln.10. Moreover, the lawn did not need mowing. *Id.* at p.99, ln.11–12. And instead of leaving when it appeared no one was home, he went around back and tried to force the door open. *Id.* at p.32, ln.22–24; p.34, ln.10 to p.36, ln.10.

Relatedly, that some people in the neighborhood hired

Dieckmann says nothing about his intent to commit theft at Milam's.

Indeed, both people that hired Dieckmann were home when he was looking for work. But that he was willing to do work when people were home and offered it does not mean he lacked the specific intent to commit theft in Milam's home when he thought no one was home.

Fourth, when Milam saw Dieckmann trying to unlock her backdoor, he apologized and quickly left instead of explaining

himself. *Id.* at p.44, ln.19–24. Had he really been seeking work, presumably he would have made his pitch. Instead, he apologized—probably because Milam caught him trying to break into her home. The jury could infer his guilty conscience from that conduct.

Iowa caselaw confirms these facts were sufficient to prove Dieckmann specifically intended to commit theft upon entering Milam's home. Take State v. Bolden. No. 14-0597, 2016 WL 4384426, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2016). There the court concluded sufficient evidence proved the specific intent to commit theft from a defendant's trying to enter a home while he had a flashlight and gloves in August, trying to remain unseen as he left, and his implausible explanation. Id.; see also State v. Erving, 346 N.W.2d 833, 835–36 (Iowa 1984) (holding sufficient evidence supported finding the intent to commit theft in an attempted burglary conviction when defendant stole nothing but removed a glass panel from a locked pharmacy area making entry into the pharmacy easier). Here the evidence is even stronger as Milam saw Dieckmann trying to force entry.

As for Dieckmann's intent to break or enter, Milam saw him trying to unlatch her backdoor. Trial Tr., p.34, ln.10 to p.35, ln.10. He

was pushing the door in to gain access to the lock. *Id*. And he was found with a long file and hammer that could help him get in. *Id*. at p.84, ln.15–21. These facts proved he intended to enter Milam's home. His implausible explanation buoyed that conclusion.

Because sufficient evidence supported both the intent to commit theft and intent to enter elements of the attempted burglary conviction, counsel breached no duty by declining to raise a sufficiency challenge.

2. The State offered sufficient evidence to prove Dieckmann possessed burglar's tools.

To convict Dieckmann of possessing burglar's tools the State had to prove that he "had in his possession a key, tool, instrument, device or explosive" and "intended to use the key, tool, instrument, device or explosive to commit a burglary." Jury Instr. 29 (8/23/2017); App.19. Dieckmann asserts that the State offered "insufficient proof that [he] had the intent to perpetuate a burglary." Def.'s Br. at 40–41. But as just explained, the State offered considerable evidence from which the jury could conclude he intended to commit a burglary at Milam's home. And that he had a long file, hammer, and gloves at the top of the backpack he carried allowed the jury to find that he had those "tool[s]" to use in "commit[ting the] burglary." Jury Instr. 29

(8/23/2017); App.19. Contrary to Dieckmann's assertions, the jury could reject his "handyman business" explanation for having tools. *See State v. Salkil*, 441 N.W.2d 386, 388 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989) (holding jury could reject the defendant's "explanation" for why he had burglary tools in concluding sufficient evidence supported defendant's conviction). This Court should affirm.

B. Dieckmann cannot prove ineffective assistance from his counsel's failure to challenge the attempted burglary instruction because he suffered no prejudice.

The marshalling instruction for attempted burglary allowed the jury to convict if it found Dieckmann attempted to enter Milam's house with "the specific intent to commit a *theft, assault or other felony.*" Jury Instr. 25 (emphasis added). Yet the evidence only supported a finding that he had the intent to commit theft. *See* Trial Tr. p.116, ln.21–23. Because the instruction allowed the jury to convict on two unsupported theories, Dieckmann reasons, his counsel was ineffective for allowing the instruction be submitted to the jury. Def.'s Br. at 43–48.

Dieckmann is right that the intent element for attempted burglary should target the specific crime that the evidence showed the defendant intended to commit upon entering a dwelling. *See State v*.

Mesch, 574 N.W.2d 10, 11 (Iowa 1997). Thus, his counsel probably breached a duty by failing to object to that instruction. But because he asserts an ineffective-assistance claim, he must prove prejudice. State v. Thorndike, 860 N.W.2d 316, 321–22 (Iowa 2015); State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195–96 (Iowa 2008). That requires him to prove "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland v Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984). Dieckmann cannot do so.

At the outset, Iowa cases state that "when there is no suggestion the [complained of] instruction contradicts another instruction or misstates the law there cannot be a showing of prejudice for purposes of an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim." *Maxwell*, 743 N.W.2d at 197. Here, Dieckmann suggests neither that the instruction misstates the law nor that it contradicts other instructions. *See* Def.'s Br. at 43–48. And he could not do so had he tried because the instruction tracks the statute. *Compare* Jury Instr. 25, *with* Iowa Code § 713.2. That alone defeats his claim.

In any event, Dieckmann cannot show a reasonable probably the jury believed he had the intent to commit an assault or other felony because the State offered no such evidence. As for assault, the evidence showed that when Dieckmann saw Milam he apologized and left, he did not try to attack her. Trial Tr., p.44, ln.19-24. No juror could have concluded he had the intent to commit assault, so it is not reasonably likely a juror convicted on that theory. Turning to the intent to commit some "other felony," the State never suggested he intended to commit any other felony. Nor did the record suggest some other felony that Dieckmann might have intended to commit. See Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d at 197 (finding no prejudice on ineffectiveassistance claim from submitting an unsupported alternative when no evidence supported the avenue of conviction allowed by the instructional error); see also Thorndike, 860 N.W.2d at 322 (same, but prosecutor also acknowledged in argument the unsupported alternative in the jury instruction did not apply). True, at closing the State's argument about specific intent tracked the instruction's language instead of targeting theft, but that does not change the evidence. It remains true that the State offered no evidence from which the jury could conclude Dieckmann intended to commit assault or some "other felony" in Milam's home.

Thus, had the instructions omitted the words "assault or other felony" the result of his trial would have been the same. Dieckmann cannot prove prejudice. This Court should affirm.

C. The record is insufficient to determine whether counsel breached a duty by allowing exhibit 20 in evidence without objecting. Objecting could not have excluded Officer Waggoner's observations.

Next, Dieckmann says he received ineffective assistance from his counsel's "[f]ailure to object to improper and inadmissible evidence." Def.'s Br. at 48 (bold removed). He specifically targets exhibit 20 and testimony from Officer Waggoner that Dieckmann believes improperly attacked his credibility. Def.'s Br. at 48–53.

Beginning with exhibit 20, it is an approximately 25 minute recoding from Officer Waggoner's body microphone. Ex. 20. It includes the officer's conversation with Dieckmann, his decision to charge Dieckmann, his conversation with Officer Walker about what she found in her investigation, his conversation with a neighborhood resident, and Officer Waggoner's observations at Milam's house. *Id*.

At least three strategic reasons could have justified not objecting to the recording. First, the recording allowed Dieckmann to explain his actions—he was soliciting business—without taking the stand. And his explanation for why he was at Milam's backdoor was

essential to his defense. Second, given that Dieckmann asserted an innocent explanation for his conduct, counsel may have thought trying to exclude the video would have looked dishonest, undermining his defense. Third, the video included Officer Waggoner's statement that there were no "obvious signs" of forced entry on Milam's backdoor. Ex. 20 at 18:18. Counsel could have viewed any risk from admitting the video to be outweighed by the benefits of that statement corroborating Dieckmann's story. Because we do not know why counsel declined to object, this claim must wait for post conviction relief.

Turning to Officer Waggoner's testimony, Dieckmann believes that testimony "indicated [the officer] believed Dieckmann was lying." Def.'s Br. at 52. Specifically, he thinks Officer Waggoner's statements that those looking for work wear shirts, do not drag backpacks around, and bring the equipment needed to do the work solicited showed that the officer disbelieved him. *Id.* at 52–53. But these are opinions flowing from the officer's observations. Officer Waggoner could testify to the facts he observed and why they raised his suspicion. And contrary to Dieckmann's assertion, Officer Waggoner did not opine that Dieckmann was lying. *Cf. Bowman v.*

State, 710 N.W.2d 200, 204 (Iowa 2006) (noting a witness cannot be questioned "on whether another witness is telling the truth").

Objecting, therefore, was futile. Counsel had no duty to raise a meritless claim. State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203, 207 (Iowa 1999).

D. Dieckmann proved neither breach nor prejudice from his counsel's declining to request a mistrial after the court sustained an objection and struck hearsay testimony.

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